RECEIVED

Jan 10 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Certiorari to Kershaw County

Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

MITCHELL LOGAN HINSON,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-001643

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS

Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense

Division of Appellate Defense

PO Box 11589

Columbia, SC 29211-1589

(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the PCR judge err in refusing to find trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to the Allen¹ charge when the jury had not yet indicated that it was deadlocked?
2. Did the PCR judge err in finding that Petitioner knowingly and intelligently waived his right to a direct appeal?

¹ Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492, 17S.Ct.154, 41 L.Ed.528 (1896).

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial judge err in refusing to conduct a hearing and grant Petitioner's motion for a new trial based on an allegation that the jury foreman failed to disclose his relationship with both the victim and Petitioner?

STATEMENT

In March of 2011, the Kershaw County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner, Mitchell Logan Hinson, for burglary first degree, indictment #2011-GS-28-0220. On June 27, 2011, Petitioner proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable L. Casey Manning, C.J. “Neil” Riley represented Petitioner at trial. Ronald W. Moak prosecuted the case. The jury returned a verdict of guilty and Judge Manning sentenced Petitioner to fifteen (15) years. On July 8, 2011, Petitioner filed a motion for a new trial. (App. p. 205). On November 3, 2015, while the motion for new trial was still pending, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief [PCR]. The application was dismissed without prejudice because the motion for a new trial was still pending. In an order signed March 24, 2016, filed April 4, 2016, the trial judge denied the motion for a new trial.

On November 4, 2016, Petitioner filed a second PCR application. Petitioner filed an amended application on May 24, 2017. The State filed a return on June 23, 2017. On July 19, 2017, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. Kristy Goldberg represented Petitioner at the PCR hearing. Jessica Kinard represented the State. In a written order filed April 12, 2018, Judge Cooper denied relief and dismissed the application. A timely motion to alter or amend was filed April 24, 2018, and then denied on September 5, 2018. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on September 10, 2018. The petition for writ of certiorari was filed on April 26, 2019. The State filed a return on September 9, 2019. On September 24, 2019, the South Carolina Supreme Court, pursuant to Rule 243(1), transferred the case to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. On December 10, 2021, the South Carolina Court of Appeals granted the petition for writ of certiorari as to issues 3 and 4. This brief of petitioner follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate courts defer to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016) (citing Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013)). The appellate courts review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts. Sellner, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527 (citing Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014)). Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836, (2018).

ARGUMENTS

- 1. The PCR judge erred in refusing to find trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to the Allen charge when the jury had not yet indicated that they were deadlocked.**

Petitioner's trial started on June 27, 2011, and the jury began deliberations sometime² on June 28, 2011. (App. p. 79; p. 173). During deliberations the jury asked to see the home surveillance video tape, asked about the penalty for the offense, asked for a mug shot or profile picture of Petitioner and then, after a discussion about ordering dinner, the jury elected to stop deliberations for the day and return in the morning at 9:30 AM. (App. pp. 173-178). The next morning, after the jury was sent back to resume deliberations, the judge stated, "In the next hour and a half from now if they haven't made a decision, perhaps we should consider the Allen charge. Let's give them some time. We'll be at ease." (App. p. 179, line 24 – p. 180, lines 1-2). The jury then asked for the definition of burglary and the judge re-charged the jury on the law of burglary first degree. (App. p. 180, line 5 – p. 181, 182, 183, 184, lines 1-15). The jury continued to deliberate for some amount of time, presumably before a lunch break was needed, when the judge stated, "I have discussed this with the lawyers in Chambers, and the bottom line is I can give the Allen charge, so I will read the Allen Charge unless the lawyers object." (App. p. 184, lines 18-21). There is no indication in the record that the jury had completed their deliberations and no indication that they were unable to reach a unanimous verdict. The lawyers did not object and the judge gave the Allen charge. (App. pp. 184 – 191).

² The trial transcript does not indicate what specific time deliberations began on June 28, 2011, but it was after lunch, closing arguments and the jury instructions. (App. p. 173, lines 13-16; pp. 159-178).

The Allen charge was lengthy, taking up seven pages in the transcript. During the charge the judge told the jury, “A mistrial in a case is a very unfortunate thing. If you cannot agree on a verdict it does not mean anybody wins or the case is over, but simply means that at some future time another jury will sit where you are.” (App. p. 187, lines 15-18). The judge also told the jury, “This is an important case, as to time, effort and money by the Defense and the Prosecution, and if you fail to agree on a verdict the case is left open and undecided. Like all cases, it must be disposed of and decided at some time.” (App. p. 189, lines 7-11). After the charge the jury was provided lunch and then returned a verdict of guilty. (App. p. 192, lines 2-24).

In the amended application for post-conviction relief Petitioner alleged, “Ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to the Court’s Allen charge.” (App. p. 219). During the post-conviction relief hearing trial counsel did not recall the jury indicating that they were deadlocked. (App. p. 267, line 21 – p. 268, lines 1-6). Trial counsel testified, “And we may have discussed it in chambers. In fact, he says that: I have discussed this with the lawyers in chambers. I didn’t object to it, no. Perhaps I should have.” (App. p. 268, line 24 – p. 269, lines 1-2). On cross-examination, when asked again if the jury indicated it was deadlocked, trial counsel testified:

No. That puzzles me. You know, had I not been able to read over the transcript of the trial, I would have sworn that they had somehow communicated to the judge that they were unable to reach a unanimous verdict. But the transcript doesn’t reflect that, so I think the judge just felt that after sending out three different questions, that that indicated that there was some sort of problem that had surfaced in the jury room reaching a decision.

And again, I don’t know, other than we were in the second day of the jury’s deliberations, which isn’t a whole lot of time. But the transcript doesn’t reflect times of day, so when it was that the judge started thinking in terms of the Allen charge, what time of day it was –

(App. p. 292, line 14 – p. 293, lines 1-4). Trial counsel testified there was no particular reason he did not object to the Allen charge, and indicated he believed it was within the judge’s discretion. (App. p. 293, line 21 – p. 294, lines 1-3).

At the close of the PCR hearing PCR counsel argued, “In researching Allen charges in preparation for this, I couldn’t find any case law on this because all says when a jury says they’re deadlocked, then you do this. I don’t see any law that says what happens when they’re not, and that’s because a judge should not issue an Allen charge if the jury does not say they’re deadlocked because that would be, per se, coercive.” (App. p. 309, lines 15-22).

In the order of dismissal the PCR judge wrote:

Despite the apparent propriety of the Allen charge itself, Applicant argues the instruction was nonetheless impermissible because the jury did not state on the record that it was deadlocked or otherwise unable to reach a verdict. However, this argument is without merit, as there is not such requirement before the trial court can give an Allen instruction. See Darr, 262 S.C. at 587, 206 S.E.2d at 870 (“It is the duty of the trial judge to urge the jury to agree upon a verdict provided he does not coerce them.”); Ayers, 284 S.C. at 269, 325 S.E.2d at 581 (“The trial judge has a duty to urge the jury to agree on a verdict, so long as his not coercive.”). Therefore, this Court finds this allegation must be denied and dismissed with prejudice.

(App. p. 340). The PCR judge erred.

A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Courts evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel using a two-pronged test. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052). First, the applicant must demonstrate counsel's representation was deficient, which is measured by an objective standard of reasonableness. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687–88, 104 S.Ct. 2052. “Under this prong, ‘[t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under

prevailing professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052). Second, the applicant must demonstrate he was prejudiced by counsel's performance in such a manner that, but for counsel's error, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id.

A. Deficient Performance

Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the Allen charge when the jury had not indicated that they were deadlocked or had even completed deliberations. “An Allen charge is ‘an instruction advising deadlocked jurors to have deference to each other's views, that they should listen, with a disposition to be convinced, to each other's argument; deriving its name from the case of Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492, 17 S.Ct. 154, 41 L.Ed. 528 (1896).’ *Black's Law Dictionary*, 74 (6th ed.1990).” State v. Lee-Grigg, 374 S.C. 388, 418, 649 S.E.2d 41, 57, fn #1 (Ct. App. 2007). As this Court noted in State v. Taylor, 427 S.C. 208, 214, 829 S.E.2d 723, 727 (Ct. App. 2019):

Although labelled the “dynamite” charge because of its proven ability to “blast a verdict out of a jury otherwise unable to agree,” United States v. Bailey, 468 F.2d 652, 666 (5th Cir. 1972), the label could just as well describe the Allen charge's success in blowing up otherwise error-free trials by introducing volatile elements into the fluid and emotionally charged atmosphere prolonged jury deliberations often create. Like dynamite, the charge must be handled with extreme care.

The Allen “dynamite” charge in the present case was not handled with extreme care. The judge gave the “dynamite” charge before the jury indicated they had completed their deliberations. The judge gave the “dynamite” charge before the jury indicated that they were deadlocked. In this case, under these circumstances, the charge was coercive because it urged the jurors to hurry and make a decision before they had completed their deliberations.

The PCR judge's reliance on State v. Darr, 262 S.C. 585, 206 S.E.2d 870, (1974), in the order of dismissal is misplaced. In Darr the trial judge simply instructed the jury upon the importance of reaching a verdict and then, based on a question from a juror, re-charged the law on self-defense. The instruction was not referred to in the opinion as an Allen charge. On direct appeal Darr challenged the judge's instruction on the importance of reaching a verdict. The Court wrote:

The case was submitted to the jury at 3:10 p.m. on September 13. At 5:42 p.m. the trial judge recalled the jury, which had not yet reached a verdict, and instructed it upon the importance of reaching a verdict. In response to a question from a juror, he charged further upon the law of self-defense. The jury retired, but defense counsel requested its immediate recall and a further clarification by the trial judge of his instructions as to the law of self-defense, which request was granted. Following this the jury retired again at 5:51 p.m. and returned a verdict of guilty at 6:23 p.m.

The appellant first contends that His Honor erred in urging the jury to reach an agreement. There is no merit in the contention. It is the duty of the trial judge to urge the jury to agree upon a verdict provided he does not coerce them. See numerous cases collected in West's South Carolina Digest, Criminal Law, 865. We find nothing whatever in the charge of the trial judge which was in any manner coercive of the jury.

State v. Darr, 262 S.C. 585, 587, 206 S.E.2d 870, 870 (1974). The simple instruction to the jury in Darr, on the importance of reaching a verdict, is distinguished from the long full "dynamite" Allen charge given in the present case. The instruction in Darr was not challenged on the basis that the jury had not indicated it was deadlocked. Additionally, in Darr there was an intervening re-charge on the law of self-defense between the instruction on the importance of reaching a verdict and the actual verdict. In the present case the jury reached a verdict shortly after the judge gave the Allen charge.

In Workman v. State, 412 S.C. 128, 130–31, 771 S.E.2d 636, 638 (2015), the South Carolina Supreme Court found that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to an unconstitutionally coercive Allen and wrote:

Whether an Allen charge is unconstitutionally coercive must be judged in its “context and under all the circumstances.” Tucker v. Catoe, 346 S.C. 483, 490–91, 552 S.E.2d 712, 716 (2001). The four factors adopted by this Court in Tucker to determine whether an Allen charge is unconstitutionally coercive are:

- (1) Does the charge speak specifically to the minority juror(s)?
- (2) Does the charge include any language such as “You have got to reach a decision in this case”?
- (3) Is there an inquiry into the jury's numerical division, which is generally coercive?
- (4) Does the time between when the charge was given, and when the jury returned a verdict, demonstrate coercion?

While the Court in Workman found the specific language used by the trial judge coercive, using the framework of analysis from Workman and Tucker, and judging the context and circumstances of the present case, the Allen charge given, without an indication that the jury completed deliberation or was deadlocked, was coercive. The Allen charge in the present case was coercive, not because the charge spoke specifically to the minority or inquired into the jury's numerical division. Instead, the charge was coercive because it urged the jury to hurry and reach a verdict before any indication from the jury that deliberations were complete and the jury was deadlocked.

The PCR judge's reliance on State v. Ayers, 284 S.C. 266, 325 S.E.2d 579 (Ct.App. 1985), is misplaced because in Ayers there was a clear indication from the jury that they were deadlocked. The jury in the present case did not indicate that they were deadlocked. The jury in the present case did not indicate they had completed their deliberations.

In the motion to alter or amend judgment PCR counsel wrote:

The order of the Court spends several pages defending the propriety of an Allen charge in general, which has not been contested by the Applicant in this matter. Rather, the Applicant argues the Court cannot and should not provide an Allen charge to the jury when the jury had not yet indicated that it is deadlocked. The Applicant contends that trial counsel should have objected to the use of an Allen charge under these circumstances. The Applicant argues that an Allen charge given to a still-deliberating jury is coercive in nature as it may cause an individual

abandon their own opinion and bend to the will of the group or rush to judgement. Due to the fact that the jury reached a verdict very shortly after the Allen charge was given there is a reasonable likelihood that the charge affected the jury's deliberations. (See trial transcript pages 185-193)

(App. pp. 345-346).

A non-coercive Allen charge is proper when the jury indicates they have completed their deliberations and are unable to reach a verdict. Without the predicate indications from the jury that they are finished deliberating and are deadlocked, the "dynamite" Allen charge becomes coercive. Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the charge.

B. Prejudice

The PCR judge did not address the prejudice prong because he did not find deficient performance. As discussed above, trial counsel was deficient. There is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient performance, the result of the proceeding would have been different. The prejudice prong is supported by the fact that the jury reached a verdict shortly after the judge improperly gave the Allen charge, a factor discussed in Workman and Tucker in deciding if the language of the charge is coercive. Petitioner was prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to object to the Allen charge when the jury had not yet indicated that they were deadlocked or had completed deliberations. The prejudicial error requires reversal and a remand for a new trial.

2. The PCR judge erred in finding that Petitioner knowingly and intelligently waived his right to a direct appeal.

On July 8, 2011, following Petitioner's conviction, trial counsel, Kershaw County Public Defender C. J. "Neil" Riley, moved for a new trial. (App. p. 205). The motion was not ruled upon until March 24, 2016, over four years later. (App. p. 324). The motion was ruled upon

without a hearing. (App. p. 302, line 14 – p. 303, lines 1-3). In the amended application for post-conviction relief Petitioner alleged, “Ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to file Notice of Appeal after the Motion to Reconsider was disposed of March 24, 2016.” (App. p. 219). During the PCR hearing Petitioner testified that, following conviction at trial, he asked trial counsel to file an appeal. (App. p. 249, lines 11-25). Petitioner testified that when he did not hear anything after a few years he filed an application for post-conviction relief. “I kept writing him, didn’t hear anything back. And then finally, after a few years went by, still haven’t heard anything or got anywhere with the new trial motion, I had a family assistance, who is a public defender, he asked me to put in a PCR and ask for assistance because you have to do it in one year, and the PCR was denied because the motion for new trial was still not heard.” (App. p. 250, lines 10-17). Petitioner testified that he expected a notice of appeal to be filed once the motion for new trial was ruled upon. (App. p. 251, lines 19-23).

When trial counsel was asked if Petitioner asked him to file an appeal, trial counsel answered, “He may have, but I opted instead to file a motion. And I can’t say for certain that he requested filing an appeal. But I know I sent him a copy of the motion. He knew it was pending. He knew because I explained it to him either in a letter or by meeting with him. But, anyway, I explained to him that the time for filing an appeal began to run after the motion was ruled upon.” (App. p. 294, lines 6-14). Trial counsel admitted that he knew Petitioner wished to challenge the conviction. (App. p. 294, line 15 – p. 295, line 1). Trial counsel left the public defender office before the judge ruled on the new trial motion. (App. p. 295, lines 2-4).

Jason Kirincich, another attorney from the Kershaw Public Defender Office, who represented Corbin Bailey, the co-defendant who testified against Petitioner at trial, testified at the PCR hearing that he attempted to schedule a hearing on the motion for new trial after trial

counsel left the office. (App. p. 302, lines 19-25). Mr. Kirincich testified that he did not consider filing a notice of intent to appeal because once he learned the motion for new trial had been denied, Petitioner had filed a second PCR application. (App. p. 303, lines 1-22). The judge signed the order denying the motion for new trial on March 24, 2016. Petitioner filed the second application for post-conviction relief over seven months later on November 4, 2016. Mr. Kirincich admitted that once he learned of the pending motion for new trial he never contacted Petitioner. (App. p. 305, lines 9-19). He also testified, "I think it would have been appropriate for our office to contact Mr. Hinson and let him know and then he can make whatever decision he wants to make." (App. p. 307, lines 5-8). No attorney consulted with Petitioner about an appeal once the judge denied the motion for new trial. (App. p. 252, lines 2-7; p. 307, lines 5-10).

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