**RECEIVED**

**Jun 20 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Certiorari to Kershaw County  
Casey Manning, Trial Judge  
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., PCR Judge

---

MITCHELL LOGAN HINSON,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-001643

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 100108

DANIELLE DIXON  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 73999

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
803-734-2875

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENTS

- 1. The PCR court properly found trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the Allen charge when the charge as a whole was not unconstitutionally coercive and the court acted within its discretion in giving the charge.**

Petitioner does not challenge the substance of the trial court's charge; rather, Petitioner argues the trial court improperly gave the charge because there was no indication the jury was deadlocked. Petitioner thus contends trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the charge without indication the jury was deadlocked. However, Petitioner's failure to challenge the PCR court's finding that the wording of the charge constituted a correct statement of the law renders that finding law of the case and precludes any finding of prejudice. Further, Petitioner cannot show prejudice because the charge was not unconstitutionally coercive. Regarding deficiency, the trial court acted within its discretion in giving the charge, making counsel's failure to object reasonable under prevailing professional norms. Finally, Petitioner's argument lacks merit when no standard requires a jury to announce it is deadlocked before a court can give an Allen-type charge.<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> Much of Petitioner's argument is premised on speculation because the Appendix does not conclusively establish that the jury never said it was deadlocked. *C.f. Green v. State*, 351 S.C. 184, 195, 569 S.E.2d 318, 324 (2002) (noting "mere speculation" was a "fatal flaw" in petitioner's allegation of ineffectiveness based on failure to object to Allen charge). Although the trial transcript does not clearly indicate the jury said it was deadlocked, evidence in the Appendix suggests the jury may have conveyed it was deadlocked. Prior to giving the charge, the trial court indicated on the record it had held a conference in chambers with the attorneys. (App. 184). Additionally, right before giving the charge, the court stated, "As I indicated to you back in the jury room—I shared my conversation with the lawyers that I had with you in the room and **this is the additional charge I was telling you about.**" (App. 184-85, emphasis added). Based on the foregoing—especially the court's statement to the jury—it is reasonable to infer the jury may have conveyed its inability to reach a verdict to the trial court. Unfortunately trial counsel's memory at the PCR hearing, which occurred six years after trial, was somewhat fuzzy. Although he initially testified he did not recall the jury stating it was deadlocked, he later qualified that by testifying:

That puzzles me. You know, had I not been able to read over the transcript of the trial, I would have sworn that they had somehow communicated to the judge that

“There is a strong presumption trial counsel provided adequate assistance.” Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184, 192, 569 S.E.2d 318, 322 (2002). To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, an applicant must show counsel was deficient, and that deficiency prejudiced the applicant. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). In other words, “the applicant must show trial counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and, but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability the result at trial would have been different.” Green, 351 S.C. at 192, 569 S.E.2d at 322. “A reasonable probability is one sufficient to undermine confidence in the trial's outcome.” Id. If a petitioner fails to prove prejudice, an appellate court does not need to consider deficiency. See Jones v. State, 332 S.C. 329, 342, 504 S.E.2d 822, 828 (1998) (“Because Jones clearly fails to meet Strickland 's prejudice prong, we need not address the first prong of the test.”).

- a. **Petitioner cannot prove prejudice because he did not appeal the PCR court's ruling that the trial court did not err in the language of the charge, making it law of the case. Further, the charge was not unconstitutionally coercive, and thus no reasonable probability exists that the outcome would have been different if the court had not given the charge.**

Petitioner glosses over his prejudice argument, merely asserting he was prejudiced because (1) the jury reached a verdict shortly after the court improperly gave an Allen charge, and (2) the trial court gave the charge when the jury had not yet indicated it was deadlocked or had completed deliberations. However, the only legitimate way to measure whether the outcome of the trial would have been different without the charge is to analyze whether the charge was unconstitutionally

---

they were unable to reach a unanimous verdict. But the transcript doesn't reflect that, so I think the judge just felt that after sending out three different questions, that that indicated that there was some sort of problem that surfaced in the jury room reaching a decision.

(App. 267-68, 292). His statement suggests that prior to reviewing the transcript, trial counsel believed the jury had communicated it was deadlocked.

coercive. Notably, Petitioner does not argue the language of the charge was unconstitutionally coercive.<sup>2</sup> This is likely because, when viewed as a whole, the charge was not unconstitutionally coercive. Because it was not unconstitutionally coercive, it is not reasonably likely the outcome of trial would have been different without the charge.

“Whether an Allen charge is unconstitutionally coercive must be judged ‘in its context and under all the circumstances.’” Tucker v. Catoe, 346 S.C. 483, 491, 552 S.E.2d 712, 716 (2001) (quoting Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231 (1988)). “South Carolina approves the use of a modified Allen charge, which must be neutral and even-handed, instruct both the majority and minority to reconsider their views, and cannot be directed at the jurors in the minority.” State v. Taylor, 427 S.C. 208, 214, 829 S.E.2d 723, 727 (Ct. App. 2019).

No set definition of coercion has emerged; instead, we detect its presence by viewing the charge in context and in light of four factors: (1) whether the charge speaks “specifically to minority jurors”; (2) whether the charge includes “you must return a verdict” type language; (3) whether there was an “inquiry into the jury’s numerical division,” which is generally coercive; and (4) whether the time between when the charge was given and when the jury returned a verdict demonstrates coercion.

Id. at 214-15, 829 S.E.2d at 727 (citing Tucker, 346 S.C. at 492-95, 552 S.E.2d at 178-19). “Like most multi-factor constructs, the Tucker test does not tell us the relative weight each factor carries, nor is the list of factors exclusive.” Id. at 215, 829 S.E.2d at 727.

Here, the PCR court found the charge was “even handedly delivered to both the minority and majority jurors, did not convey to the jury that reaching a verdict was mandatory, and constituted a correct statement of the law.” (App. 339-40). Petitioner has not challenged this

---

<sup>2</sup> Petitioner’s argument regarding coerciveness focuses only on the fact the court gave the charge “before any indication from the jury that the deliberations were complete and the jury was deadlocked.” (Pet. Br. 10). Petitioner never points to any language of the charge that he contends is unconstitutionally coercive.

finding, making it law of the case. See Smith v. State, 413 S.C. 194, 196, 775 S.E.2d 696, 697 (2015) (providing an unappealed ruling is the law of the case). Because this finding is law of the case, Petitioner is precluded from demonstrating prejudice.

Further, the PCR court did not err in this finding because the charge was not unconstitutionally coercive. Relative to the first factor set forth in Tucker, the court charged:

Each juror must decide the case for himself but only after impartial consideration of the evidence by fellow jurors. You should not hesitate to re-examine your own views and change your opinion if you are convinced it is erroneous. Each juror who finds themselves to be in the minority must consider his view in light of the opinions of the majority jurors. Conversely, each juror finding himself in the majority should give equal consideration to the views of the minority.

(App. 190). The charge did not speak specifically to minority jurors but rather addressed minority and majority jurors equally. (App. 190). Likewise, immediately after asking each juror to consider the perspectives of other jurors, the court reminded the jury that “[n]o juror, however, should surrender his conviction as to the weight or effect of the evidence solely because of the opinion of his fellow jurors or for the mere purpose of returning a verdict.” (App. 190). Thus, under the first Tucker factor, this charge was not unconstitutionally coercive.

Regarding the second factor, the trial court did not admonish the jury that it must return a verdict. Notably, the court informed the jury, “[I]f you simply cannot reach a verdict, then return to the Courtroom and I will declare this case mistried and discharge you with appreciation for your services.” (App. 189). The court also informed the jury it would be better for it to *not* reach a verdict than to reach one that violated any juror’s individual consciences and beliefs. (App. 191). Finally, each time the court informed the jury of its duty to deliberate and reach a verdict, it qualified that duty by adding language such as “if you can do so without violating your individual judgments.” (App. 185, 188-90). See Green, 351 S.C. at 194, 569 S.E.2d at 323 (“It is not coercion to charge every juror has a right to his own opinion and need not give up the opinion merely to

reach a verdict.”); Taylor, 427 S.C. at 218, 829 S.E.2d at 729 (“The most troubling thing about the charge here is what it did not say: it did not tell the jurors they should not surrender their conscientiously held beliefs simply for the sake of reaching a verdict, **an essential message that sometimes saves borderline charges from crossing the line into coercion.**” (emphasis added)). Overall, the court did not admonish the jury it must return a verdict, and thus the second Tucker factor does not support a finding that the charge was coercive.

Likewise, the court never asked about the numerical division of the jury, and the jury did not volunteer that information. Thus, the third Tucker factor does not support a finding of coerciveness.

Finally, although it is unclear from the record what time the court gave the charge, it occurred prior to lunch. (App. 191-92). Assuming the jury received lunch sometime between noon and 1:00—typically the time trial courts break for lunch—it is reasonable to infer the jury heard the charge before noon and no later than 1:00 p.m. Assuming *arguendo* the jury received the charge as late as 1:00 p.m., it would have deliberated for an hour and forty-five minutes before rendering a verdict at 2:43 p.m., which is at least three times as long as the thirty-two minutes the jury in Darr deliberated after being “urged” by the court to reach a verdict. (App. 192). See State v. Darr, 262 S.C. 585, 586-87, 206 S.E.2d 870, 870 (1974) (finding trial court did not coerce a jury that deliberated for only thirty-two minutes after the court “urged it” to reach a verdict). Overall, the Tucker factors do not support a finding that the charge was unconstitutionally coercive.

Finally, although the trial court briefly mentioned the expense of trial, this brief reference did not render the charge unconstitutionally coercive. See State v. Singleton, 319 S.C. 312, 316, 460 S.E.2d 573, 575-76 (1995) (“It is not coercion when a trial judge instructs the jury that failure to reach a verdict will require a new trial at additional expense . . .”). Specifically, the court

charged: “If you are unable to reach a verdict, it is possible this case will be tried again, and it is obvious that that means to the State and a Defendant anxiety and effort.” (App. 188). Shortly thereafter the court charged, “This is an important case, as to time, effort and money by the Defense and the Prosecution, and if you fail to agree on a verdict the case is left open and undecided. Like all cases, it must be disposed of and decided at some time. (App. 189). These brief references to the anxiety, effort, and cost of trial, viewed in context of the charge as a whole, did not render the charge unconstitutionally coercive. Thus, Petitioner has not shown a reasonable probability exists that the outcome would have been different without the charge.

In support of his prejudice argument, Petitioner first contends he was prejudiced by the charge because the jury reached a verdict shortly after the judge issued the charge. As discussed above, the length of time this jury deliberated does not conclusively establish prejudice, especially when our Supreme Court has affirmed a challenge to a charge where the jury deliberated for only thirty-two minutes after receiving the charge. See Darr, 262 S.C. at 586-87, 206 S.E.2d at 870 (finding trial court did not coerce a jury that deliberated for only thirty-two minutes after the court “urged it” to reach a verdict).

Finally, Petitioner contends he was prejudiced simply because the charge was given before the jury announced it was deadlocked. This contention lacks merit. Although South Carolina does not appear to have a case on point, at least one jurisdiction has recognized an Allen-type charge is less coercive if given when a jury is not deadlocked. See People v. Hardin, 421 Mich. 296, 313, 365 N.W.2d 101, 109 (1984) (“[T]he effect of delivering the ABA [Standard 15- 5.4<sup>3</sup>] charge prior to deliberation differed from its effect when given in a deadlocked situation. ‘When given during

---

<sup>3</sup> The ABA Standard 15-5.4 charge is akin to a modified Allen charge. It is discussed more thoroughly in the next section.

the original instructions, the ABA charge's coercive impact upon the jury is greatly diminished.” (quoting People v. Goldsmith, 309 N.W.2d 182 (Mich. 1981)). Because the charge is less coercive if given before a jury announces it is deadlocked, it follows that no reasonable probability exists that the outcome of Petitioner’s trial would have been different had counsel objected to the giving of the charge on the basis the jury had not announced a deadlock. Thus, Petitioner has failed to prove prejudice.

- b. **The PCR court properly determined trial counsel was not deficient when the trial court acted within its discretion in giving the charge, and no standard requires a jury to announce it is deadlocked before a court can give an Allen charge.**

Petitioner argues trial counsel was deficient for not objecting to the court giving an Allen charge when the jury had not indicated it was deadlocked. However, the trial court acted within its discretion in giving the charge, rendering trial counsel’s failure to object reasonable under prevailing professional norms. Further, no standard requires a jury to announce it is deadlocked before a court can give an Allen charge.

South Carolina does not appear to have any case squarely on point. However, in Darr, our Supreme Court affirmed a conviction in a seemingly similar situation. There, the jury began deliberating at 3:10 p.m. 262 S.C. at 586, 206 S.E.2d at 870. “At 5:42, the trial judge recalled the jury, which had not yet reached a verdict, and instructed it upon the importance of reaching a verdict.” Id. Following a question from a juror, the trial court recharged the jury on self-defense. Id. The jury retired at 5:51 p.m. and returned a verdict of guilty at 6:23 p.m.” Id. On appeal, the defendant argued the trial court “erred in urging the jury to reach an agreement.” Id. at 587, 206 S.E.2d at 870. Our Supreme Court found this contention to be without merit, reasoning, “It is the duty of the trial judge to urge the jury to agree upon a verdict provided he does not coerce them.” Id. Although the facts of the Darr opinion are sparse, nothing indicates the jury had conveyed it

was deadlocked prior to the court “urging [it] to reach an agreement.” Id.

Petitioner attempts to distinguish his case from Darr, arguing the trial court’s Allen charge coerced the jury to reach a verdict because the jury reached a verdict shortly after the court gave the charge. However, Petitioner does not challenge the wording of the charge itself. It is disingenuous to agree the wording of the charge was not coercive but argue the charge was coercive just by being given without any indication the jury was deadlocked.

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